# Master Agreement

Between

Okemos Board of

Education

And

Custodial,

Maintenance &

**Food Service** 

Units

MEA/NEA

2022-2026



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Article 1	Purpose and Intent
Article 2	Recognition
Article 3	Definition of Employees
Article 4	Continuity of Operations4
Article 5	Management Rights
Article 6	Association Rights
Article 7	Payroll Deductions
Article 8	Negotiation Procedures5
Article 9	Grievance Procedure
Article 10	Working Hours and Conditions
Article 11	Evaluation
Article 12	Discipline
Article 13	Vacancies, Assignments and Transfers12
Article 14	Seniority13
A4: -1 - 15	I ff I D 11
Article 15	Layoff and Recall14
Article 15 Article 16	Medical Examinations
Article 16	Medical Examinations16
Article 16 Article 17 Article 18	Medical Examinations
Article 16 Article 17 Article 18	Medical Examinations
Article 16 Article 17 Article 18 Article 19	Medical Examinations
Article 16 Article 17 Article 18 Article 19 Article 20	Medical Examinations.16Leaves of Absence.16Holidays and Vacation.21Hospitalization and Other Insurance Provisions.23Compensation and Longevity.26
Article 16 Article 17 Article 18 Article 19 Article 20 Article 21	Medical Examinations.16Leaves of Absence.16Holidays and Vacation.21Hospitalization and Other Insurance Provisions.23Compensation and Longevity.26Retirement.30
Article 16 Article 17 Article 18 Article 19 Article 20 Article 21 Article 22	Medical Examinations.16Leaves of Absence.16Holidays and Vacation.21Hospitalization and Other Insurance Provisions.23Compensation and Longevity.26Retirement.30Duration of Agreement.31
Article 16 Article 17 Article 18 Article 19 Article 20 Article 21 Article 22 Appendix A	Medical Examinations16Leaves of Absence16Holidays and Vacation21Hospitalization and Other Insurance Provisions23Compensation and Longevity26Retirement30Duration of Agreement31Classifications32

#### MASTER AGREEMENT

#### between the Okemos Board of Education and the

#### Okemos Custodial/Maintenance/Food Service Units MEA/NEA

This Agreement is entered into by and between the Board of Education, Okemos Public Schools, Ingham County, Okemos, Michigan, hereinafter called the "Board" or the "Employer," and the Michigan Education Association, NEA hereinafter called the "Association."

#### ARTICLE 1: PURPOSE AND INTENT

The general purpose of this Agreement is to set forth terms and conditions of employment, and to promote orderly and peaceful labor relations for the mutual interest of the Board, its employees and the Association.

The parties recognize that the basic purpose of the Okemos Public Schools is for the education of its youth and that all employees are obligated to work to help provide the best education system with safe, clean and functional facilities.

To these ends, the Board and the Association encourage to the fullest degree, friendly and cooperative relations between the respective representatives at all levels.

#### ARTICLE 2: RECOGNITION

- A. Pursuant to and in accordance with all applicable provisions of Act 379 of the Public Acts of 1965, as amended, the Board does recognize the Association as the sole and exclusive representative for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to rates of pay, hours of employment and other conditions of employment for the term of this Agreement for all employees in the following, described unit:
  - All full time and regular part-time custodial, maintenance, grounds, utility, delivery, and food service personnel but excluding all supervisors such as, but not necessarily limited to, Director of Operations, Assistant Coordinator of Building and Grounds, Director of Food Services, Food Service Supervisor, Assistant Director of Food Service, secretarial, temporary help and all other employees.
- B. The Board agrees not to negotiate with any other union/labor organization for the term of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 3: DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES

- A. The terms "employee" and "bargaining unit member" as used in this Agreement, except where the Agreement clearly indicates otherwise, shall mean an employee(s) within the bargaining unit described in Article 2.
- B. A "full-time bargaining unit member" is a regular employee whose normal schedule of work is forty (40) hours a week.
- C. A "part-time bargaining unit member" is a regular employee whose normal schedule of work is less than forty (40) hours a week.
- D. A "regular employee" is a bargaining unit member whose employment is expected to continue from year to year and who is not employed on a substitute or temporary basis.

- E. Newly hired employees shall be probationary for the first sixty (60) working days of their employment and thereafter shall be permanent employees.
- F. A temporary or substitute employee is not part of the bargaining unit. A substitute is an employee hired to fill the position of an absent bargaining unit member for the duration of the leave period regardless of the length of the leave period. A temporary is an employee who is hired to fill a temporary or seasonal position, which will cease after a specified period of time. The association president shall be notified in writing of all temporary employees hired and the intended duration of their employment.

#### ARTICLE 4: CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS

The Association agrees that neither it nor any of its members, nor any person(s) acting on its behalf will cause, support, take part in or authorize any strike against the school district during the life of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 5: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- A. The Board, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the District, hereby retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and the Constitutions of the State of Michigan and of the United States including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the right:
  - 1. To the executive management and administrative control of the district and its properties and facilities, and the activities of its employees, as related to their job responsibilities;
  - 2. To hire all employees and subject to the provisions of law, to determine their qualifications and the conditions for their continued employment, or their dismissal or demotion; and to promote and transfer all such employees.
- B. The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the Board, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited only by the specific and expressed terms of this Agreement and then only to the extent such specific and expressed terms hereof are in conformation with all applicable laws and regulations having the effect of law.

#### ARTICLE 6: ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

- A. Duly authorized representatives of the Association shall be permitted to transact official Association business on school property. The Association President will submit a written request to the appropriate Director one (1) week prior to the meeting indicating the approximate time needed for the meeting. Approval of the Director will be given provided the length of the meeting does not interfere with required operation of the school. Working hours for the Operations classification shall not result in additional pay. Working hours for the Food Services classification may be adjusted but shall not result in additional pay.
- B. Upon the approval of the building administrator, the Association will have the right to use school facilities and equipment on school grounds and at times when such equipment is not in use for regular operations provided it has trained operators. The Association shall pay the cost of all materials and supplies incident to such use.
- C. The Association shall have the right to post notices of its activities and matters of concern on school bulletin boards, at least one of which will be available in each school. The Association may use the regular inter school mailboxes for communication.

- D. Upon approval of the appropriate Director, the Association Board of Representatives will be allowed to meet once in each week. The President of the Association shall submit a written request two (2) days in advance to the appropriate Director. Approval will be given provided the length of the meeting does not interfere with required operation of the school. Working hours for said members in the Operations classification will be adjusted but shall not result in additional pay. Working hours for the Food Services classification may be adjusted but shall not result in additional pay.
- E. Association can have up to six (6) days of release time for association business per year. The Association president must give ten (10) days notice to the Directors of the departments affected. Release time will be with pay. The Board will pay for the substitute for half of the release days utilized. The Association will pay for the substitute for half of the release days utilized and the employee's retirement.
- F. Special conferences may be mutually arranged during the life of the contract to discuss mutual concerns. The purpose of these conferences is not to replace or divert concerns which should appropriately be subject to the grievance procedure, but rather to mutually assist the parties in the administration of this Agreement.
- G. The Employer agrees to provide a copy of this Agreement to all bargaining unit members and any new personnel hired into the bargaining unit.
- H. Upon initial employment, the employer agrees to provide new hires with information on Michigan Public Schools Employees Retirement System Members Investment Program.

#### ARTICLE 7: PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

- A. The Board agrees to make the following deductions for bargaining unit members upon proper authorization.
  - 1. Hospitalization, medical and dental insurance
  - 2. Credit Union/Banking Institution
  - 3. Tax sheltered annuities as approved by the Board including MEAFS
  - 4. Group life insurance premiums for one carrier as approved by the Board
  - 5. United Fund
  - 6. U.S. Government Savings Bonds
  - 7. And such other deductions as may be mutually agreed upon between the Superintendent or designee.

#### ARTICLE 8: NEGOTIATION PROCEDURES

- A. At least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement, the parties will begin negotiations for a successor Agreement to cover wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment.
- B. This Agreement may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from or modified only through the voluntary, mutual, written consent of the parties. Such alterations, changes, additions, deletions or modifications shall be signed by the parties and shall serve to amend this Agreement.
- C. If any provision of this Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any bargaining unit member or group of bargaining unit members shall be found contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
  - It is further agreed that within ten (10) working days of notification of a final and binding determination of such illegality, the parties will commence negotiations for a new Agreement with respect to the

provision determined to be illegal. The ten (10) working day period may be extended upon mutual agreement of the parties.

- D. This Agreement shall supersede any rules, regulations or practices of the Employer which are contrary to or inconsistent with its terms.
- E. The provisions of this Agreement shall be incorporated into and considered part of the established policies of the Employer.
- F. There shall be four (4) signed copies of this Agreement, two (2) of which shall be retained by the Association and two (2) of which shall be retained by the Employer.
- G. An emergency manager appointed by law may reject, modify or terminate this agreement by law. This clause is included in this agreement because it is legally required by state law.

#### ARTICLE 9: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A. A grievance shall be defined as a complaint by a bargaining unit member or a group of bargaining unit members or the Association based upon an event, condition or circumstance under which the bargaining unit member works, allegedly caused by unjust treatment, or by a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of any provision of this Agreement.
- B. A grievance shall be in writing in accordance with the following:
  - 1. It shall be signed by the grievant;
  - 2. It shall contain the date of the alleged violation;
  - 3. It shall be specific;
  - 4. It shall contain a summary of the facts giving rise to the alleged violation;
  - 5. Where applicable, it shall cite the Section(s) sub-section(s) of this Agreement alleged to have been violated;
  - 6. And it shall specify the relief requested.
- C. The steps in the grievance procedure shall be as follows:
  - 1. Step One:
    - a. Informal/Unwritten

Bargaining unit members shall discuss grievances with their Director or designee, either individually and/or with an Association representative within ten (10) days of the event or when the employee could reasonably have been expected to know of the event giving rise to the grievance. If this informal discussion does not resolve the grievance, the member may proceed to step 1.b., the formal/written level, within ten (10) days of the informal discussion.

A grievance involving discharge shall be processed initially at step 3 of the Grievance Procedure. The grievance must be filed within ten (10) days of the Notice of Discharge.

#### b. Formal/Written

If the grievance is not resolved informally, a written grievance shall be filed with the Director within ten (10) days of the informal discussion. The Director or designee shall hold a conference with the grievant and or the Association representative within ten (10) days of receipt of the grievance and shall render his decision in writing within ten (10) days of the conference.

Step one informal/formal first level supervisor:

Middle School custodians and the pool maintenance operator shall file grievances with the coordinator supervising their building if that position exists or if that position does not exist, with the Director of Operations.

High School custodians and pool maintenance operator shall file grievances with the Director or designee. Food Service employees shall file with the Director or designee. All others in the bargaining unit shall file grievances directly with the Director of Operations.

#### 2. Step Two:

If a grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step One, the member or Association may file within ten (10) days of the answer to Step One, a written copy of the grievance with the Assistant Superintendent or designee. The Assistant Superintendent or designee shall arrange a meeting, within ten (10) days between himself/herself and the Association Representative. The grievant may also attend the meeting if he/she so chooses. The Assistant Superintendent or designee shall answer the grievance in writing within ten (10) days of the meeting and provide copies to the grievant, Association Representative, the Association President and the MEA Uniserv Director.

# 3. Step Three:

If the grievant(s) and/or the Association is not satisfied with the disposition at Level 3, the grievance shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of the disposition, be transmitted to the Superintendent. Within ten (10) days after receipt of the grievance, the Superintendent or his designee and a committee composed of one (1) to three (3) Board Members shall meet with the Association. The grievant may also attend the meeting if he/she so chooses. The Superintendent shall remit a written disposition of the grievance within ten (10) days after the conclusion of the hearing.

#### 4. Step Four:

If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition at step 4, it may, with the approval of the grievant, take whatever recourse is available by law unless the Board agrees in writing to submit the grievance to binding arbitration.

- D. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prevent a bargaining unit member from presenting a grievance and having the grievance adjusted by the Employer without the intervention of the Association provided such adjustment is consistent with the terms of this Agreement and provided further that the Association shall be notified of such adjustment.
- E. The presentation of a grievance shall in no way prejudice a bargaining unit member's status with the Employer.
- F. If the Association has a grievance, the Association shall submit the same in writing at Step Two of the procedure.
- G. The time limits established in the grievance procedure shall be followed unless otherwise shortened or extended in writing by mutual agreement of the parties. The term "days" as used in the grievance procedure shall mean Monday through Friday, excluding holidays, and the spring and winter break periods.
- H. Should there be no decision rendered within the time limit specified, the grievance will be considered to be at the next step of the grievance procedure upon the expiration of the time limit. Any written grievance response which is not appealed to the next step of the grievance procedure within the time limit specified will be considered settled on the basis of the decision rendered at the previous step.

I. The Grievance Report Form is attached hereto as Appendix B.

# ARTICLE 10: WORKING HOURS AND CONDITIONS

A. The normal workweek for full time bargaining unit members shall be defined as forty (40) hours a week at eight (8) hours a day.

The normal workweek for the Food Services classification shall be defined as five (5) days a week to coincide with the school year.

- B. At least five (5) working days prior to the start of school in any year, bargaining unit members shall receive written notice of the hours they are scheduled to work. Where reasonably possible, any subsequent changes in a bargaining unit member's hours shall be preceded by forty-eight (48) hours advance notice.
  - On or before June 1 in any year, bargaining unit members shall receive written notice of the hours they are scheduled to work during the summer months. Where reasonably possible, any subsequent changes in a bargaining unit member's hours shall be preceded by forty-eight (48) hours advance notice.
- C. Full time bargaining unit members shall be entitled to a duty-free, unpaid, thirty (30) minute lunch period. Should a bargaining unit member be required to perform work during a lunch period, the bargaining unit member shall be paid the appropriate portion of his/her hourly wage rate for all such work during the lunch period or his/her schedule will be adjusted by an amount of time equal to that worked.
- D. Bargaining unit members who work in the Food Service classification for Six (6) or more hours a day shall be entitled to a duty-free unpaid thirty (30) minute lunch period. The lunch period will be established by the Food Service Director or designee to coincide with the bargaining unit member's work schedule.
- E. A bargaining unit member who works four (4) or more consecutive hours shall be entitled to one (1) fifteen (15) minute, duty-free break period within the four (4) hours and same shall be paid. A bargaining unit member who works eight (8) hours in any day shall be entitled to two (2) fifteen (15) minute, duty-free break periods within the eight (8) hours and same shall be paid. Employees must be scheduled to have their paid breaks on top of the hours worked. For instance, an employee would be scheduled for an 8.5 hour workday. Breaks must be preceded and followed by a period of work. Breaks must be preceded and followed by a period of work.)
- F. Bargaining unit members will be informed of the name and telephone number of the person with whom they are to report their unavailability for work.
- G. The Employer shall provide a uniform allowance in accordance with the following:
  - 1. Bargaining unit members in the Food Services classification who regularly work more than two (2) hours a day shall receive up to five (5) shirts or smocks each calendar year depending on individual need. The wearing of employer supplied shirts or smocks shall be mandatory during working hours. The Board will supply use of uniforms, not specific to the employee in the case of chef coats and insulated jackets. Uniforms include name tags at the discretion of the Director and must be worn.
  - 2. All full-time grounds, custodial, maintenance and delivery employees shall receive up to three (3) sets of uniforms each calendar year depending on individual need. In addition, grounds, maintenance and the day custodial/maintenance bargaining unit members shall receive up to two (2) pairs of coveralls or one (1) pair of insulated coveralls depending on individual need. Other bargaining unit members may submit a written request regarding uniforms with the Director of

Operations including the option of a different type of shirt. The decision of the Director of Operations shall be final.

- a. The bargaining unit member will maintain his/her own uniforms.
- b. Bargaining unit members who leave the employ of the Board within six (6) months of the issuance of uniforms shall return same.

A committee shall be formed in July, 2022 to make a recommendation to increase the quality and number of uniforms and safety equipment for Custodial/Maintenance members retroactive to the start of the 2022-2023 fiscal year and continue for the duration of this contract.

- H. The Board shall provide the tools and equipment necessary to do a job.
  - 1. Bargaining unit members will not be liable for loss, theft or damage to tools and equipment, nor will they be required to make restitution for same unless proven guilty of negligence.
  - 2. Every effort will be made to provide tools and equipment that meet safety standards.
  - 3. Protective equipment for eyes/glasses will be available to bargaining unit members who weld.
- I. The Employer shall schedule its meetings with bargaining unit members on the Employer's time whenever reasonably possible. Meetings which are otherwise scheduled shall entitle the unit members to be paid at their regular hourly rate of pay for such time spent meeting with the Employer except when such meetings exceed the forty (40) hour work week and/or the eight (8) hour workday in which case the overtime provisions shall apply.

The Employer's meetings with the Food Service classification can be scheduled on system-wide half-days of student instruction with at least thirty calendar days (30) notice to employees.

- J. Except as set forth in Section 2 below, overtime and additional hours shall be offered and distributed to bargaining unit members as equally as possible within each classification within a building.
  - 1. Overtime for custodial/maintenance will be handled as follows:

    Overtime shall be rotated based on seniority within the building. If all building seniority personnel refuse overtime, then the supervisor of the building may take the overtime. If further overtime is needed (overflow), then overtime shall be distributed on a rotating basis from a volunteer list of qualified personnel within the classification.
  - 2. Overtime or additional hours for food service will be handled as follows:
    - At the beginning of each school year, all bargaining unit members within food service will have an opportunity to sign a voluntary list for the distribution of additional hours. It is understood that as additional hours occur, bargaining unit members on the list must be able to perform the duties necessary for the additional hours. The list shall be ranked by seniority and job title. Additional hours will be by rotation on a building basis first, and additional hours thereafter on a system-wide basis. The rotation list will be started anew each year.
  - 3. For rotation purposes, if a bargaining unit member refuses or is not available for overtime he/she shall be treated as having taken the overtime.

- 4. Known overtime shall be posted as soon as reasonably possible.
- 5. To the extent possible, overtime and/or additional hours will be voluntary.
- 6. When a regular bargaining unit member is absent, management will attempt to use regular employees rather than substitutes when other factors reasonably permit.
- 7. For rotation purposes, if a bargaining unit member is on vacation or personal business leave, he/she will be considered as being unavailable but will not be treated as having taken the overtime.
- K. Emergency closings will be governed by the following procedures:
  - 1. Bargaining unit members under the Director of Operations shall receive one (1) day off with pay for each day that they are required to report as set forth herein. The day(s) off with pay shall be mutually arranged between the bargaining unit member and the Director of Operations.
  - 2. Bargaining unit members who are not required to report for work shall receive the time off with full pay.
  - 3. Bargaining unit members who work the night shift will not be required to report for work unless they are contacted by the Director of Operations and instructed to work. On such occasions, bargaining unit members will be assigned in accordance with the building seniority rotation list.
  - 4. Food Service personnel shall not be required to report for work on days when school is canceled for the K-12 district due to conditions beyond the control of school authorities, such as inclement weather. Food service personnel shall suffer neither loss of leave time nor loss of salary if the canceled day(s) are not required to be rescheduled to receive state aid. If the canceled day(s) are rescheduled, food service employees shall work the rescheduled day(s) and shall be paid for doing so.
  - 5. If conditions beyond the control of school authorities cause a building, or some but not all buildings, to be closed, the employees assigned to the closed building(s) shall report to work and may be assigned to other buildings.
  - 6. Bargaining unit members shall not be charged for a paid leave day when such has been used and/or requested on a day when school has been canceled.
- L. During those periods when school is not in session, any deviation in the regular workday shall be assigned in accordance with the seniority rotation list.
- M. No bargaining unit member shall be permitted to smoke or use other tobacco products on school grounds or in school buildings.

# ARTICLE 11: EVALUATION

- A. All monitoring or observation of the work of each bargaining unit member shall be conducted in person and with the full knowledge of the bargaining unit member.
- B. Bargaining unit members shall be evaluated in writing at least once in each three (3) year period.

- C. Each bargaining unit member, upon his/her employment or at the beginning of the school year, whichever is later, shall be apprised of the specific criteria upon which he/she will be evaluated. The criteria shall be as set forth in Appendix C of this Agreement.
- D. Observations of bargaining unit work for evaluation purposes shall where appropriate be of sufficient length in time to fairly represent the bargaining unit member's work.
- E. All evaluations shall be reduced to writing and a copy given to the bargaining unit member within ten (10) days of the final observation. If the bargaining unit member disagrees with the evaluation, he/she may submit a written response which shall be attached to the file copy of the evaluation in question.
- F. Following each formal evaluation, the bargaining unit member shall sign and be given a copy of the evaluation report prepared by the immediate supervisor. The signature shall only signify that the bargaining unit member has read the evaluation. A bargaining unit member may submit additional comments to the written evaluation if he/she so desires within ten (10) workdays of receipt.
- G. Each written evaluation will be followed by a conference between the bargaining unit member and the immediate supervisor within ten (10) workdays following the issuance of the written evaluation. Said conference shall be considered as time worked and therefore paid.
- H. If the Director or designee believes a bargaining unit member is doing unacceptable work, the reasons therefore shall be set forth in specific terms, as shall an identification of the specific ways in which the bargaining unit member is to improve, and of the assistance to be given by the Employer towards that improvement. In subsequent observation reports, failure to again note a specific deficiency shall be interpreted to mean that adequate improvement has taken place. Alternatively, the supervisor shall note that such previously cited deficiency was not observed.
- I. At the completion of the probationary period, a written evaluation of the bargaining unit member's work shall be completed in accordance with the procedures set forth herein.
- J. All written evaluations shall be placed in the bargaining unit member's personnel file.
- K. In the event a non-probationary bargaining unit member is not continued in employment, the Employer will advise the bargaining unit member of the specific reasons therefore in writing and provide a copy to the Association.
- L. The evaluation form is attached to and incorporated into this Agreement as Appendix C.

#### ARTICLE 12: DISCIPLINE

- A. A bargaining unit member may be suspended with or without pay, or otherwise disciplined or discharged provided the Employer has just cause to do so. The just cause standard shall not apply to the discharge of a probationary employee. Such disciplinary action shall be subject to the Grievance Procedure unless the employee is a probationary employee. Prior to the imposition of any disciplinary action, the employer will advise the bargaining unit member of his/her right to have association representative present.
- B. Demotion is an involuntary transfer to a position carrying a lower hourly rate. In cases of demotion, the bargaining unit member shall be entitled to receive the written reasons for same within ten (10) working days of his/her written or verbal request.
- C. The Board agrees to furnish written notification of disciplinary action to the bargaining unit member and the Association President.

- D. Normally, progressive correction shall include an oral warning, a written reprimand, suspension with or without pay and discharge. It is understood that certain steps in the disciplinary sequence may be omitted when the nature and severity of the offense so warrant.
- E. All disciplinary action taken against a bargaining unit member shall be in private. Unless the bargaining unit member is to be removed from the premises for the balance of the work period as a result of the disciplinary action taken, the imposition of discipline will be scheduled during the bargaining unit member's regularly scheduled hours of work, if possible. It is understood that if the imposition of disciplinary action is to take place after the normal working hours, the employee shall be entitled to additional pay.
- F. A bargaining unit member shall have the right, upon request, to review the contents of his/her personnel file in the presence of an administrator. At the bargaining unit member's option, a representative of the Association may accompany the bargaining unit member at the time of said review.
- G. Bargaining unit members shall sign for the receipt of disciplinary documents (reprimands, suspensions and/or warnings), it being understood that the signature only implies receipt. The bargaining unit member may have his/her written statements submitted within ten (10) workdays, attached to the (personnel) file copy of such documentation.
- H. The Employer will continue its practice with respect to disciplinary action in connection with certain misconduct. Same is set forth in a Letter of Agreement dated November 29, 1990 which is attached to and incorporated into this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 13: VACANCIES, ASSIGNMENTS AND TRANSFERS

- A. A vacancy shall be defined as a bargaining unit position for which there is no bargaining unit member with a contractual right to return and which the Employer intends to fill or a newly created position which the Employer intends to fill.
  - An increase or decrease of hours of the same job shall not create a vacancy unless the qualifications of the job are altered.
- B. Vacancies shall be posted for at least five (5) full workdays prior to filling same permanently.
- C. During the summer months, when school is not in session, postings for vacancies shall be e-mailed to each bargaining unit member in Food Services who submits a written request to the Food Service Director prior to the last day of school in any year. Such vacancies shall not be permanently filled for seven (7) calendar days from the mailing date.
- D. A job posting shall set forth the job title, its schedule of hours and location together with the job duties and the minimum requirements necessary to perform the work.
- E. Any bargaining unit member may make a written application for a vacancy with the appropriate Director.
- F. Vacancies shall be filled with the most qualified applicant on the basis of seniority, qualifications and the ability to perform the work. The Director shall determine who is the most qualified applicant. Where qualifications of the applicants are equal, a vacancy shall be filled by the most senior qualified bargaining unit member applicant on layoff. Qualifications shall include evaluations and disciplinary record. Should there be no bargaining unit member on layoff such vacancy shall be filled with the most senior applicant from the classification in which the vacancy arose.

- G. The employer reserves the right to fill vacancies on a temporary basis, subject to the provisions of Article 3, Section F.
- H. A substitute who fills a vacancy on a temporary basis shall not have claim to such vacancy by virtue of his/her filling same temporarily.
- I. Except for work areas assigned to the lead custodian, custodians at the middle schools and the high school shall be entitled to bid on work areas in the building(s) they work in and will be assigned based upon seniority.
- J. Bargaining unit members may be transferred when it is necessary for the good of the system as a whole or at a bargaining unit member's request. Involuntary transfers shall not be for arbitrary or capricious reasons.
- K. A bargaining unit member, who is transferred to a position which carries a higher rate of pay shall be paid at the higher rate.

A bargaining unit member who is transferred to a position which carries a lower rate of pay shall not suffer a reduction in pay unless the transfer is permanent. Such transfers shall be for just cause.

#### ARTICLE 14: SENIORITY

- A. Newly hired bargaining unit members shall be on probation for the first sixty (60) days worked. Any scheduled workdays on which the probationary bargaining unit member is absent shall serve to extend the probationary period by the same number of days.
  - 1. No bargaining unit member shall be required to serve more than one (1) probationary period with the Employer unless s/he has severed his/her employment and is later rehired.
  - 2. A probationary bargaining unit member shall have no seniority until the completion of the probationary period at which time seniority shall be established from the last date of hire.
  - 3. Service as a temporary or substitute employee shall be counted when calculating the seniority of employees who were members of the bargaining unit as of December 1, 1999. For all other employees, service as a temporary or substitute employee shall not be counted when calculating seniority.
- B. Except as provided in Section A. 3. Seniority shall be defined as the length of continuous employment in a bargaining unit position and shall accrue within classification from the last date of hire.
- C. For the purposes of this Article, there are two (2) classifications: Food Services and Operations. Within the Food Services classification, there shall be four categories of employee: AA Lead Cook, BB Cook/Middle School Kitchen Lead/Food Distribution and Sanitation, CC Server/Helper/Cashier, DD Elementary Kitchen Lead two (2) categories: Food preparation, classes AA, and BB, and food distribution, classes CC and DD. See job Descriptions.
  - 1. Last date of hire shall be defined as the first day worked in a bargaining unit position.
  - 2. Should a bargaining unit member permanently transfer to a non-bargaining unit position with the Employer, seniority shall not continue to accrue; however, the bargaining unit member shall retain his/her seniority accrual until s/he may return to the bargaining unit.

- 3. A bargaining unit member who works in more than one (1) classification shall be entitled to accrue seniority in all such classifications for as long as she/he works in more than one (1) classification.
- 4. A bargaining unit member who changes from one (1) classification to another shall not lose any previously accrued seniority in the former classification, but future accrual of seniority shall be in the new classification. Seniority accrued in the prior classification shall be frozen.
- 5. Should more than one (1) bargaining unit member share the same date of hire, relative rankings on the seniority list shall be determined by the alphabetical sequence of last names first, then first names and finally middle names.
- 6. Part-time bargaining unit members shall accrue seniority as if they were scheduled to work full time.
- 7. Seniority shall continue to accrue while on layoff and during an unpaid leave of absence of ninety (90) or less workdays.
- D. A bargaining unit member shall lose his/her seniority when:
  - 1. He/she resigns or retires.
  - 2. He/she is discharged, and the discharge is not reversed through the grievance procedure set forth in this Agreement.
  - 3. When the bargaining unit member fails to return from an unpaid leave of absence within three (3) working days of the end of said leave.
  - 4. When the bargaining unit member is absent for three (3) consecutive working days without notifying the Employer. The Superintendent may make exceptions.
  - 5. After such absences, as listed in Sections 3 and 4 above, the Employer will send written notification to the bargaining unit member at his/her last known address that s/he has lost his seniority, and his/her employment has been terminated. If the disposition of any such case is not satisfactory, the matter may be referred to the grievance procedure.
- E. There shall be two (2) seniority lists: one (1) for the Food Services classification and its categories and another for the Operations classification.
  - 1. The Employer shall prepare, maintain and send seniority lists to the Association President annually. Lists shall be sent on or before October 1 in each year. A copy of the seniority lists and any subsequent revisions shall be provided to the Association President upon request.
  - 2. The seniority list shall include the names, classifications, and last date of hire for all bargaining unit members entitled to seniority.
  - 3. The bargaining unit member shall have thirty (30) calendar days following the posting of the seniority list in which to challenge the accuracy of said list. Should the bargaining unit member fail to challenge within the period provided above, the seniority credited on that list shall be deemed correct and not thereafter subject to challenge through the grievance procedure.

#### ARTICLE 15: LAYOFF AND RECALL

- A. Layoff shall be defined as a reduction in the work force.
- B. In the event it becomes necessary to reduce staff, the Employer shall meet with the designated Association Representative(s) at least twenty-one (21) calendar days prior to the effective date of layoff. At such meeting the Employer shall submit a list of the names of bargaining unit members scheduled for layoff, their job title and work location together with a copy of an updated seniority list.
- C. Bargaining unit members who will be laid off or whose positions will be reduced by more than two (2) hours shall receive written notice at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the effective date of layoff. The Association President shall receive a copy of all such notices.

Bargaining unit members whose positions have been reduced by two (2) hours or less shall continue to receive the same level of insurance benefits that he/she had prior to such reduction.

- D. In the event of a layoff, the following procedure shall apply:
  - 1. All temporary employees shall be laid off unless there is no qualified bargaining unit member to perform the work.
  - 2. Should further reduction be necessary, probationary bargaining unit members within the affected classification(s) shall be laid off unless there is no qualified, non-probationary unit member to perform the work.
  - 3. Should further reduction be necessary, bargaining unit members shall be laid off in accordance with their seniority status with the least senior bargaining unit members within the affected classification to be laid off first unless there is no other qualified unit member to perform the work.
  - 4. A laid off bargaining unit member shall have the right to displace the least senior bargaining unit member within his/her classification provided that the number of annual hours of said position does not exceed the number of annual hours that the bargaining unit member was assigned prior to layoff.

If a bargaining unit member believes he/she has a right to displace another individual, they must submit a letter to the Director within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the layoff notice.

- E. For purposes of this Agreement, classification shall be as defined in Appendix A1.
- F. For purposes of this Agreement, qualifications shall be defined as possessing the skills required for a job as delineated in the respective job description and/or posting, positive evaluation and disciplinary record.
- G. At his/her option, a laid off bargaining unit member shall be granted priority status on the substitute list in accordance with his seniority.
- H. In no case shall a new employee be hired while there are laid off bargaining unit members who are qualified for a vacant or newly created position.
- I. Laid off bargaining unit members shall be recalled in order of seniority, with the most senior being recalled first to any position for which s/he is qualified.

- 1. Notice of recall shall be sent by certified or registered mail to the last known address as shown on the Employer's records. The recall notice shall state the time and date on which the bargaining unit member is to report back to work.
- 2. A recalled bargaining unit member shall be given ten (10) working days from the postmark on the recall notice to report to work.
- 3. The Employer may fill the position on a temporary basis until the recalled bargaining unit member can report for work, provided the unit member reports within the above ten (10) day period.
- 4. Bargaining unit members recalled to positions for which they are qualified, and which are substantially equal to those which they were assigned prior to layoff are obligated to accept such work. Accordingly, a bargaining unit member who declines recall to such a position shall forfeit his/her seniority and right to recall.
- 5. Should the bargaining unit member fail to respond within ten (10) working days from the postmark of written recall, he/she shall be considered as having resigned.
- J. All rights to recall and future employment shall end if a laid off employee is not recalled within two (2) years from the date the layoff was effective. Performing services as a substitute or non-bargaining unit employee after layoff shall not constitute a recall within the meaning of this provision.
- K. Upon the effective date of layoff, an eligible bargaining unit member can elect to receive the benefits included in Article 21, paragraph B. It is understood, that should the bargaining unit member be recalled to a position, his/her "accumulated sick leave" will begin at zero (0).

# ARTICLE 16: MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS

- A. New employees may be required to submit to a medical examination at the Employer's expense. Any applicant for a position shall sign a release of medical history and approve release of medical information to the Employer for purposes of the job application.
- B. The Employer shall have the right to require all bargaining unit members to submit to an annual physical examination by a doctor of the Employer's choosing and at the Employer's expense. Bargaining unit members may go to their own doctor for the physical examination; however, the bargaining unit member must allow the Employer to receive medical information directly from the doctor in order to do so. The bargaining unit member shall pay the difference between the Employer's usual cost for physicals by its own doctors and that charged by the bargaining unit member's personal physician.

# ARTICLE 17: LEAVES OF ABSENCE

#### A. Paid Leaves

- 1. At the beginning of each contract year or school year whichever is applicable, ten (10) month bargaining unit members shall be credited with ten (10) days of sick leave and twelve (12) month bargaining unit members shall be credited with twelve (12) days of sick leave, the unused portion of which shall accumulate from year to year without limit. Effective for Food Service employees hired after July 1, 2010, bargaining unit members will be credited with five (5) days of sick leave.
  - a. Bargaining unit members who work less than full-time shall receive sick leave pro-rated on the number of hours they are regularly scheduled to work.

- b. Upon the immediate supervisor's approval, bargaining unit members may use up to two (2) consecutive days of leave for illness or injury within the immediate family. Verification may be required for a leave of more than two (2) days. Immediate family shall be defined as: mother, father, husband, wife, child, stepchild, adopted child, mother and father-in-law, sister or brother, grandparents, grandchild, and any other person for whose physical care he/she is principally responsible.
- c. A bargaining unit member who is absent for three (3) or more consecutive workdays due to illness or injury shall present a medical statement certifying his/her fitness to return to work to his/her immediate supervisor.
- d. A bargaining unit member reasonably suspected of abuse of sick leave or absent for extended periods of time may be required to submit to a physical examination by a physician designated by the Superintendent or designee at Board expense.
- e. Bargaining unit members shall report their unavailability for work by notifying the appropriate Director. The bargaining unit member shall either indicate the length of the anticipated leave or report his/her unavailability on a daily basis. Employees shall notify the Director or designee at least two (2) hours prior to the bargaining unit member's reporting time.
- f. Should a bargaining unit member's employment be severed prior to the end of his/her work year, the bargaining unit member's final paycheck will be adjusted for any sick leave used in excess of the days earned.
- 2. At the beginning of each school year, each bargaining unit member shall be credited with two (2) days of personal business leave to be used at his/her discretion. Unused personal business leave will carry over as sick days. Effective for Food Service employees hired after July 1, 2010, bargaining unit members will be credited with one (1) day of personal business leave.

#### Custodial Maintenance:

a. A bargaining unit member shall notify his/her immediate supervisor in writing at least five (5) workdays in advance of a request to use personal business leave except in cases of emergency when shorter notice will be acceptable.

#### Food Service:

- b. For Food Service employees, no personal business days can be taken during the first or last two weeks of the academic school year, unless extenuating circumstances result in approval by the Director.
- c. Personal business leave may not be used on the workday immediately preceding or following a holiday or vacation period except as determined by the Superintendent or designee.
  - The employer may restrict the number of bargaining unit members taking personal business leave to two (2) per day for maintenance/custodial employees and two (2) per day for Food Service employees.
- 3. Bargaining unit members shall be credited with three (3) days of leave for each death in the immediate family. Additional days may be granted by the Superintendent or designee and if granted, shall be deducted from the bargaining unit member's sick leave. Immediate family shall

be defined as: mother, father, husband, wife, child, stepchild, grandchild, in-laws, sister or brother, grandparents, and any other person for whose physical care he/she is principally responsible.

- 4. Bargaining unit members may use one (1) day a year to attend the funeral of any person. Additional days may be granted by the Superintendent or designee and if granted, shall be deducted from the bargaining unit member's sick leave.
- 5. A bargaining unit member who is summoned for jury duty, or who is subpoenaed to give testimony in court shall, if possible, notify the administration at least one (1) week prior to the date s/he is to begin serving on jury duty or to testify in court.
  - a. A bargaining unit member who is summoned and reports for jury duty or gives testimony and not a party to the litigation or testifying against the district in court, shall be paid the difference between the amount he/she receives from the court and his/her regular rate of pay.
  - b. To be eligible for the pay differential, a bargaining unit member shall furnish the Employer with a written statement from the appropriate public official listing the amount and the dates for which he/she received payment from any court.
  - c. Bargaining unit members who appear before a court of competent jurisdiction or an administrative body on behalf of the Employer shall suffer neither loss of leave time nor loss of salary.
  - d. Except as noted in subsection e below, these provisions shall apply only if the bargaining unit member is required to be absent from work in order to serve on a jury or give testimony during normal work hours.
  - e. A bargaining unit member who works the night shift shall not be required to report for work when his/her court/jury duty requires that he/she appear for the afternoon session of the court. Said bargaining unit member shall, however, notify the appropriate Director as soon as he/she has been so informed by the court.
- B. Unpaid Leaves (See also FMLA Leaves in Section D) (Unpaid Leaves are benefits that are NOT to be used as vacations.)
  - 1. An unpaid leave of absence is not to exceed one (1) year and is available to a bargaining unit member for childcare. In addition to an unpaid leave of absence, a bargaining unit member may use sick leave for a pregnancy-related disability.
    - a. A bargaining unit member's request for childcare leave should be in writing and specify the beginning and ending dates of the leave period. Application for leave should be made at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the beginning of the leave unless the need for the leave is unanticipated. A bargaining unit member who is pregnant may continue in active employment as late into her pregnancy as she desires so long as she is able to perform the duties of her position.
    - b. A bargaining unit member on leave should make a written application for reinstatement at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration date of the leave.
    - c. In computing service to determine the bargaining unit member's salary at the expiration of leave, time spent on leave shall not be counted as active service in the Okemos School District.

- d. A bargaining unit member who requests a leave of less than ninety (90) workdays will indicate at the time the leave is requested, her/his intent to return upon the expiration of the leave.
- 2. A bargaining unit member may apply for an unpaid leave of absence not to exceed one (1) year for adopting a child. The leave period should commence within thirty (30) calendar days after the child is assigned.
  - In computing service to determine the bargaining unit member's salary at the expiration of leave, time spent on leave shall not be counted as active service in the Okemos School District.
  - b. A bargaining unit member should make a written application for reinstatement at least ninety (90) calendar days prior to the expiration date of the leave.
- 3. A bargaining unit member who has been inducted or who enlists for military duty in any branch of the armed forces of the United States shall be granted a leave of absence for a period not to exceed ninety (90) calendar days beyond his/her honorable discharge date.
  - a. The leave period shall not be extended beyond the initial enlistment or induction period except with the approval of the Board or its designee.
  - b. A dishonorable discharge shall not obligate the Board for future employment.
  - c. Application for reinstatement shall be made within a reasonable time after discharge or release from military service, but not later than ninety (90) calendar days from the date of said release or discharge.
  - d. Upon reinstatement, the bargaining unit member shall be entitled to all wage increases and other benefits including seniority, which were affected during the leave period.
  - e. Certification by a licensed physician as to the bargaining unit member's physical and/or mental fitness to resume employment may be required as a condition of reinstatement.
- 4. The Board shall grant an unpaid leave of absence not to exceed one (1) year for personal illness, accident or other equally grave emergency upon the bargaining unit member's written request provided said request is accompanied by a physician's certification of same.
  - a. In computing service to determine the bargaining unit member's salary at the expiration of the leave period, time spent on leave shall not count as active service in the Okemos Public Schools.
  - b. Certification by a licensed physician as to the bargaining unit member's fitness to resume employment will be required as a condition of reinstatement.
  - c. Application for reinstatement shall be in writing at least ninety (90) calendar days prior to the expiration date of the leave period.
  - d. Upon reinstatement, the bargaining unit member shall be entitled to all wage increases and other benefits that were affected during the leave period.

#### C. General Leave Provisions

- 1. The re-employment of military veterans shall be in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.
- 2. Upon return from an unpaid leave of absence of more than ninety (90) working days, a bargaining unit member shall be placed in the position s/he held at the time the leave was granted, if available, or if not, to the first vacancy for which s/he is qualified. The Board agrees to fill a position for ninety (90) working days or less with a substitute.
- 3. Unpaid leaves of absence granted pursuant to this Agreement may be extended for a period not to exceed one (1) year at the discretion of the Board.
- 4. Except as specifically set forth in this Agreement, the bargaining unit member shall retain all rights and benefits that have accrued to him/her until such time as s/he may return to the bargaining unit.
- D. Family Medical Leave Act of 1993 does not abrogate the rights of the parties under this agreement. Where additional benefits are extended to bargaining unit members by the act, those additional benefits will be honored by the Board. Where certain Employer rights are also granted in connection with such additional benefits, the board shall be permitted to exercise same. To the extent that leaves of absence are granted under this Agreement, whether paid or unpaid, the rights granted hereunder will serve to satisfy the requirements of the Family Medical Leave Act to the extent permitted by law. All applications for leave pursuant to the Family Medical Leave Act will comply with board policy.
  - 1. For the bargaining unit members who have been employed for at least twelve (12) months by the district and who work at least half time, the following conditions shall apply to twelve (12) weeks of leave:
    - a. Any health, dental, and/or vision insurance shall be continued, with the premiums paid by the district, at the level and under the conditions the same would have been provided if the bargaining unit member had continued in employment during the leave period.
    - b. If the bargaining unit member does not return to work after the expiration of the leave, the bargaining unit member shall reimburse the District for the cost of the premiums paid by the District for his/her insurance during the twelve (12) week period of the leave, unless the bargaining unit member did not return to work due to circumstances beyond his/her control.
  - 2. A bargaining unit member shall use his/her accumulated sick leave and/or personal business days where applicable as specified herein during a leave pursuant to the Family Medical Leave Act.
  - 3. The Board reserves the right to require certification from the health care provider of the bargaining unit member, or of the bargaining unit member's spouse, child or parent, as the case may be. All certification(s) shall state: the date on which the serious health condition commenced, the probable duration of the condition, and the diagnosis and intended treatment of the condition. When the leave is for a bargaining unit member's spouse, parent or child, the certification shall also state that the bargaining unit member is necessary for the care of such an individual and an estimate of the amount of time that the bargaining unit member is needed for such care. When the leave is for a bargaining unit member, the certification shall also state that the bargaining unit member is unable to perform the duties of his/her employment. The board may require that the bargaining unit member obtain subsequent recertification on a reasonable basis.

- 4. The Board reserves the right to require, at its expense, the opinion of a second health care provider designated by the Board concerning any certified information provided under subsection 3 above. Where the second opinion differs from the opinion in the original certification, the Board reserves the right to require, at its expense, the opinion of a third health care provider designated or approved jointly by the Board and the bargaining unit member, whose opinion shall be final and binding.
- 5. A bargaining unit member returning from a leave of absence shall be governed by the terms of this Agreement regarding salary schedule credit, accumulation of seniority and return to position vacated whether on leave under this Agreement or similar leave under the Family Medical Leave Act. Where a bargaining unit member returns from a leave granted solely under the Family Medical Leave Act because no similar leave exists under this Agreement, then the bargaining unit member shall be returned to employment with credit on the salary schedule, accumulation of seniority, and to the same position vacated, unless that position no longer exists. If the position no longer exists, the bargaining unit member shall be returned to an equivalent position for which he/she is qualified.
- 6. In recognition of the confidential nature of the required certification(s) set forth herein, all such information shall be requested by and submitted to the Superintendent or designee.

# ARTICLE 18: HOLIDAYS AND VACATION TIME

- A. Bargaining unit members who have worked at least thirty (30) working days prior to any paid holiday shall receive time off with pay in accordance with the following:
  - 1. Bargaining unit members who are twelve (12) month employees shall receive the Friday before Labor Day if school is not in session, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, the Friday following Thanksgiving, the last work day before Christmas provided school is not in session in which case the holiday will be the day after Christmas, Christmas Day, New Year's Eve Day, New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, when school is not in session, Memorial Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, and July 4 as paid holidays. Total twelve (12) holidays.
  - 2. Bargaining unit members who work less than twelve (12) months shall receive the Friday before Labor Day if school is not in session, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, the Friday following Thanksgiving, Christmas Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, President's Day and Memorial Day as paid holidays. Total eight (8) holidays.
  - 3. When the holiday occurs on Sunday, it will be observed on the following Monday. When the holiday occurs on Saturday, it will be observed on the preceding Friday.
  - 4. In order to receive holiday pay, bargaining unit members must work the last workday preceding and the first workday following the holiday provided they are normally scheduled for work on said days except in case of illness.
  - 5. The rate of pay for bargaining unit members who are required to work on Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year's Day, Memorial Day and July 4 shall be double the hourly rate. The rate of pay for bargaining unit members who are required to work on the Friday following Thanksgiving, the last workday before Christmas or the day after Christmas, New Year's Eve Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, and Presidents' Day shall be one and one-half (1½) times the hourly rate.

- 6. If a bargaining unit member is on vacation on any of the above-named holidays, that day shall be charged as a holiday, not a vacation day.
- 7. In the event any designated holiday(s) is scheduled as a day of student instruction, alternate holidays will be designated.
- 8. Should a bargaining unit member terminate employment, s/he will not receive pay for holiday(s) that occur after the last day worked irrespective of whether the holiday(s) falls within the period of his/her remaining vacation time.
- B. Vacation time for twelve (12) month bargaining unit members shall be computed in accordance with the following:
  - 1. Upon employment twelve (12) month bargaining unit members shall earn one (1) day of paid vacation for each month worked up to a maximum of ten (10) paid days each year, July 1 through June 30. All vacation time shall be paid at the bargaining unit member's regular rate of pay excluding overtime.
  - 2. After the third year and through twelve (12) years of service to the district, the twelve (12) month bargaining unit member shall be credited with one (1) additional day in each year for each year of service up to a maximum of twenty (20) days in any year. The additional day will be credited on the bargaining unit member's anniversary date.
  - 3. Beginning with the eighteenth year of service to the district and every year thereafter, the twelve (12) month bargaining unit member shall be credited with one (1) additional day of vacation for each year of service up to a maximum of twenty-five (25) days in any year. The additional day will be credited on the bargaining unit member's anniversary date.
  - 4. All vacations should be taken during the summer months, between the date school lets out in June and school begins in September. Vacation requests shall be submitted to the Director of Operations prior to the ending of school in June, or ten (10) workdays prior to the period of time requested. If extenuating circumstances exist, the Director could approve the request with less notice if it doesn't create a hardship for the department. The Director of Operations shall have the authority to grant or deny the period of time requested.
    - Vacations may be taken between September and June with the approval of the Director of Operations.
  - 5. If a Food Service employee becomes a custodian, vacation time shall accumulate from the date of transfer to the custodial classification in accordance with Section B. 1 above.
  - 6. Earned vacation time shall accrue and may be taken during, but not later than the end of the fiscal year following the one in which it was earned. Vacation time from two (2) fiscal years may not be joined together to increase the length of the vacation period.
  - 7. A bargaining unit member shall not be required to waive vacation time for the purpose of working for the Employer during any scheduled vacation except in case of emergency.
  - 8. If a bargaining unit member becomes ill and is under the care of a duly licensed physician during his vacation, his vacation will be rescheduled. In the event his incapacity continues through the year, he will be awarded compensation in lieu of vacation time. Proof of such incapacity may be required from a physician within thirty (30) days of such illness.

- 9. If a bargaining unit member is laid off or retired, he will receive any unused vacation credit including that accrued in the current fiscal year.
- 10. If a death occurs in the immediate family while a bargaining unit member is on vacation, the time spent for bereavement shall not be charged as vacation time provided the Director of Operations has been notified within five (5) calendar days after the time of death.

#### ARTICLE 19: HOSPITALIZATION, AND OTHER INSURANCE PROVISIONS

#### A. Health Insurance

- 1. Employees working forty (40) hours a week on a regular basis shall be entitled to full family health insurance benefits. Employees working at least thirty (30) hours a week and less than forty (40) hours a week on a regular basis shall be entitled to single subscriber health insurance benefits or the amount of the single subscriber health insurance premium paid by the employer applied toward the purchase of two person or full family coverage.
- 2. Health insurance benefits shall be provided in accordance with the WMHIP BCBS Plan. If during the term of this agreement two or more other employee groups of the Board switch to another health insurance plan, the Board may switch to that health insurance plan provided the benefits under that plan are substantially equal to WMHIP BCBS Plan.
- 3. The insurance carrier will be WMHIP BCBS. Effective with the 2011-12 school year, the Board will pay 80% and the employee will pay 20% of the health premium. The employee payment of the premium will be payroll deducted from two (2) pay periods per month. Insurance premiums will not be deducted from the 3<sup>rd</sup> pay in the month.
- 4. In lieu of health benefits, eligible employees working forty (40) hours a week will receive one hundred seventy-five (\$175.00) dollars a month to be remitted in cash. Employees working at least thirty (30) hours a week and less than forty (40) hours a week will receive a pro-rated portion of the one hundred seventy-five (\$175.00) dollars cash payment (e.g., a Food Service employee working thirty (30) hours a week will receive \$131.25). The cash amounts may be applied towards approved annuity plans or other plans on record with the employer through the salary reduction agreement. Any amounts exceeding the employer's subsidy shall be payroll deducted. An openenrollment period shall be provided whenever the contribution subsidy amounts change. Members who elect the cash in lieu benefit will be paid in 18 equal installments beginning in October and ending in June.
- 5. Should a husband and wife both be employed in a bargaining unit position, only one (1) will be eligible for health insurance and the other will receive the cash, if otherwise eligible as set forth in Section 4.
- 6. The employer will maintain a qualified plan document, including a salary reduction agreement which complies with Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code. The employer shall have the right to determine the plan administrator. The employee shall pay the monthly administration fee for documents required to be filed under Section 125 including salary reduction agreements.
- 7. Food Service employee must work at least 4 hours per day (20 hours per week) to be eligible for life and single dental and vision. Further, a food service bargaining unit member must work at least six (6) weeks before being eligible for benefits.

Bargaining unit members hired prior to July 1, 2008, will be grandfathered and maintain their current insurance coverage.

The Board agrees to implement a Section 457 Plan (retirement plan) and Roth Plan.

#### B. Dental

The Board shall provide the following dental benefits which equal or exceed those benefits, with internal and external coordination of benefits, for a full twelve (12) month period for all custodial/maintenance and food service employees working forty (40) hours a week and their eligible dependents as defined by SET. The Board may provide such benefits through the purchase of insurance or through self-insuring. Selection of the carrier shall be at the discretion of the Board. Bargaining unit members working less than forty (40) hours per week shall be eligible for employee coverage only or the amount of the single subscriber premium paid by the employer applied toward the purchase of two person or full family coverage.

#### **Basic Services:**

Payment at 80%\* for the following services (Incentive Plan applies):

- Examination
- Cleaning
- Diagnostic X-Rays
- Fluoride Treatment (to age 18)
- Restorative (fillings)
- Oral Surgery (extractions) and related anesthesia
- Endodontics (root canals)
- Periodontics (scaling and polishing of teeth)

#### Major Services:

Payment at 80%\* for the following services:

- Bridges and repairs
- Dentures (full and partial)
- Crowns, Inlays and repairs

Annual maximum is \$2,000 per person, per calendar year for combined Basic and Major services.

#### Orthodontic Services:

- Payment at 80%\*
- Lifetime maximum for dependents to 19 \$1,500
- Additional \$1,500 for children's orthodontics for bargaining unit members receiving cash in lieu of health insurance.
- \*Reasonable and Customary Charge

Incentive Plan - payment begins at 80% and progresses annually to 100% (10% each year) provided the individual has a dental examination and the recommended work is performed during the calendar year.

The above is a generalization of the plan's provisions; the contract is the controlling document.

#### C. Vision

The Board shall provide the following vision benefits or benefits which equal or exceed those benefits, with internal and external coordination of benefits, for a full twelve (12) month period for all custodial/maintenance and food service employees working forty (40) hours a week and their eligible dependents as defined by SET.

The Board may provide such benefits through the purchase of insurance or through self-insuring. Selection of the carrier shall be at the discretion of the Board. Bargaining unit members working less than forty (40) hours per week shall be eligible for employee coverage only or the amount of the single subscriber premium paid by the employer applied toward the purchase of two person or full family coverage.

Examination \$75.00 One Time Every 24 Months
Regular Lenses \$180.00 One Time Every 24 Months
Bi-Focal/Progressive Lenses \$190.00 One Time Every 24 Months
Tri-Focal Lenses \$200.00 One Time Every 24 Months

Lenticular Lenses \$00.00

Frames \$80.00 One Time Every 24 Months
Contacts \$160.00 One Time Every 24 Months

Examinations, frames, and one (1) set of corrective lenses (regular glasses, prescription sunglasses, photogrey lenses or contact lenses) will be provided one in a 24-month policy year (July 1 through June 30) for each eligible member of the family. An employee requiring a vision examination every twelve (12) months for medical reasons will have a benefit of \$58 each year. A medical statement must be forwarded to the Superintendent or designee to initiate this plan.

The above is a generalization of the plan's provisions; the contract is the controlling document.

#### D. Life Insurance

The Board shall provide \$25,000.00 term life insurance with AD & D for all bargaining unit members that work forty (40) hours per week. The Board shall provide \$12, 500.00 of term life insurance with AD & D for all bargaining unit members that work less than forty (40) hours per week.

# E. Long Term Disability

The Employer shall provide without cost to each bargaining unit member who works 30 hours or more per week Long Term Disability Insurance. Benefits shall be paid at 66 2/3% of salary up to a monthly maximum of \$3,500 and shall begin after the later of 1) the exhaustion of the bargaining unit member's accumulated sick leave, if any or 2) the expiration of 30 calendar days of disability accumulated in any twelve (12) consecutive months. (Only the last three days of the waiting period need be consecutive and for the same condition.) The foregoing applies to both food service and custodial/maintenance if they work thirty (30) hours or more per week.

F. The Board agrees to carry Workers' Compensation Insurance for all bargaining unit members. Bargaining unit members sustaining injury or occupational disease arising out of, and in the course of Board employment, shall be continued on the payroll to the extent of the dollar amount of his/her sick leave reserve; or the employee may opt to receive Worker's Compensation Benefits.

Bargaining unit members may supplement their Workers' Compensation payments with one-third (1/3) of a sick day for each day of Workers' Compensation. Sick days may be used during the waiting period for Workers' Compensation. Should such disability extend so that Workers' Compensation is retroactive to the first day of covered disability, then the employee's first five (5) sick days will be recredited for two-thirds (2/3) of a sick day for each day of covered Workers' Compensation.

G. A bargaining unit member who is on an unpaid leave of absence beyond the period covered by the Family and Medical Leave Act, and/or layoff status, may continue his fringe benefit coverage through the Employer by paying the COBRA premium in advance monthly for up to eighteen (18) months from the commencement of the leave beyond the period covered by the FMLA or layoff.

- H. A bargaining unit member who is on an unpaid leave of absence pursuant to Article 17, Section B. 5, shall be entitled to continue his fringe benefit coverage for a period of up to thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the first day of said leave at Board expense provided that the bargaining unit member is not otherwise employed. In addition, the Board will continue medical coverage as required for qualified FMLA leaves.
- I. A bargaining unit member who is eligible for insurance benefits including the Employer-paid annuity as set forth herein shall be responsible for the completion of all necessary documents and for fulfilling any other requirements of the insurance underwriters /administrators. A bargaining unit member shall not be eligible to receive insurance benefits until he/she is enrolled for coverage by the insurance carrier. The Board shall provide all enrollment forms necessary during the first week of eligible employment to newly hired employees. The Board should provide, but is not required to provide, all enrollment forms necessary when a current employee becomes eligible for benefits for the first time.

#### ARTICLE 20: COMPENSATION AND LONGEVITY

- A. The wages of bargaining unit members covered by this Agreement are set forth in Appendix A which is attached to and incorporated into this Agreement.
  - 1. Bargaining unit members who work the shift after 12:00 midnight shall receive premium pay at the rate of ten cents (\$.10) an hour or five cents (\$.05) a half hour.
  - 2. Bargaining unit members who are called in between 12:00 midnight and 6:00 a.m. shall receive premium pay at the rate of twenty-five cents (\$.25) an hour or thirteen cents (\$.13) a half hour.
- B. Paychecks will be issued every other Friday except that the night shift will receive paychecks by 12:00 midnight on the Thursday immediately preceding said payday. All pay will be direct deposit.
- C. A bargaining unit member shall be paid overtime pay at the following rate and under the following conditions:
  - 1. Rate of pay shall be at time-and-one-half of the regular hourly rate for all work performed in excess of forty (40) hours in any workweek.
  - 2. Rate of pay shall be double the regular hourly rate for all work performed on holidays and Sundays, except that bargaining unit members who regularly start their work week on Sunday shall be paid straight time for work on Sunday.
- D. Bargaining unit members in the Custodial/Maintenance classification who, at the Employer's request, report for duty which is outside of their regular work period shall be granted at least two (2) hours pay at the rate of time-and-one-half.
- E. Bargaining unit members in food service classification working at banquets or other school-related activities scheduled outside of his/her regular working hours shall be compensated at the bargaining unit member's regular rate. No premium or overtime will be granted. Employees who would be working in excess of forty (40) hours in any workweek shall not be eligible to work at banquets or other school-related activities.
- F. Bargaining unit members required in the course of their work to drive their personal automobile shall be reimbursed for mileage at the IRS mileage rate.
- G. In addition to the regular hourly wage stated in Appendix A, bargaining unit members shall receive longevity pay based on continuous years of employment in a bargaining unit position or a non-bargaining unit position if the employee was eligible for earning years toward longevity while employed in the non-bargaining unit position. Longevity pay shall be paid in a lump sum on the first non-pay day Friday in

December and shall be for the prior year from December 1 through November 30. Bargaining unit members who are on unpaid leave during the previous year, December 1 through November 30, will have their longevity pay prorated for that year only. Years of service referred to below much be completed before December 1 in any year to qualify for longevity pay.

For example, an employee whose first day of work with the Board is in December 2000, then would receive the first longevity pay in December 2005. If during that year, December 1, 2004 through November 30, 2005, the employee was on unpaid leave, then the longevity pay for that year would be prorated and paid in December 2005. The resulting prorated longevity pay is the number of paid workdays and holidays of that employee divided by the number of possible paid workdays and holidays for that employee in their classification(s) time the full longevity amount.

If an employee's first day of work is on December 2, 2000, then they would receive the first longevity payment in December 2006.

#### 1. Classifications A through D

Forty (40) hours per week personnel receive full amounts. Part-time is pro-rated.

- a. After five (5) years of service and through ten (10) years, the bargaining unit member shall receive \$648.
- b. After ten (10) years and through seventeen (17) years, the bargaining unit member shall receive \$1099.
- c. After seventeen (17) years of service, the bargaining unit member shall receive \$1820.

#### 2. Classifications AA through DD

Employees will receive the following percentages of the above class A-D longevity payments. Those who are contractually scheduled to work up to twenty (20) hours per week shall receive one-half (2). Those who are contractually scheduled to work between twenty (20) and thirty (30) hours per week shall receive three-fourths (3/4). Those who are contractually scheduled to work in excess of thirty (30) hours per week shall receive the full payment.

- 3. Time worked as a temporary, student or supervisory employee shall not add to a bargaining unit member's years of service for purposes of qualifying for longevity pay.
- 4. During unpaid leaves of absence and periods of layoff, a bargaining unit member shall not continue to accrue years of service but shall retain his/her years of service until such time as he/she may return to a bargaining unit position.
- H. Any employee completing twenty-four (24) years of service with the Okemos Public Schools will receive a one-time recognition stipend in the amount of three hundred dollars (\$300.00).
- I. When a new job is placed in the bargaining unit and cannot be properly placed in an existing classification and/or wage rate, the matter shall be subject to negotiation between the parties within thirty (30) calendar days of such placement.
- J. Food Service and Custodial/Maintenance Salary Schedule
- K. Effective July 1, 2010 a two tier pay scale will be initiated for all Custodial/Maintenance new hires after July 1, 2010.

	Food Service Sala	ry Schedule 20	23-2024		
Classification		Probationary	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
	1 10 1	φ1 c <b>7</b> 0	ф1 <b>7</b> 1 <b>7</b>	Φ17. 4Q	ф1 <b>7</b> со
AA	Lead Cook	\$16.79	\$17.17	\$17.43	\$17.69
BB	Cook/MS Lead	\$15.26	\$15.60	\$15.86	\$16.12
CC	Kitchen Assistants	\$13.79	\$14.14	\$14.40	\$14.66
DD	Elementary Lead	\$14.24	\$14.56	\$14.82	\$15.08
Longevity - pro	orated for part time en	mployees (Artic	le 20, pai	ragraph C	i.2.)
After 5 years		\$648			
After 10		\$1,099			
years		Ψ1,077			
After 17		\$1,820			
years		Ψ1,020			

# 2023-2024 Salary Schedule Custodial/Maintenance

Increased 3.1%	Wages
Classifications	2023-2024
A-Probationary	\$19.09
0-3 years	\$20.89
3.5 years	\$21.79
4-7 years	\$22.68
7.5 years	\$23.61
8+ years	\$24.64
B-Probationary	\$18.42
0-3 years	\$19.90
3.5 years	\$20.47
4-7 years	\$21.01
7.5 years	\$21.57
8+ years	\$22.24
C-Probationary	\$18.19
0-3 years	\$19.64
3.5 years	\$19.97
4-7 years	\$20.29
7.5 years	\$20.60
8+ years	\$21.01
D-Probationary	\$17.90
0-3 years	\$19.09
3.5 years	\$19.36
4-7 years	\$19.64
7.5 years	\$20.00
8+ years	\$20.47

Note: Steps Given

Increase granted on anniversary date of

employment.

chipiojinent.	
Longevity	
After 5 years	\$648.00
After 10 years	\$1,099.00
After 17 years	\$1,820.00

Tiered salary schedules: Effective with employees hired into the bargaining unit after July 1, 2010.

# 2023-2024 Tiered Salary Schedule

Increased 3.1%	
Custodial/Maintenance	
A Probationary	\$ 18.85
0-3 years	\$ 20.84
3.5 years	\$ 21.73
4-7 years	\$ 22.62
7.5 years	\$ 23.32
8+ years	\$ 24.58
B Probationary	\$ 18.36
0-3 years	\$ 19.86
3.5 years	\$ 20.41
4-7 years	\$ 20.96
7.5 years	\$ 21.52
8+ years	\$ 22.19
B-1 Probationary	\$ 17.40
0-3 years	\$ 18.26
3.5 years	\$ 18.73
4-7 years	\$ 19.18
7.5 years	\$ 19.64
8+ years	\$ 20.23
C Probationary	\$ 16.27
0-3 years	\$ 17.42
3.5 years	\$ 17.74
4-7 years	\$ 17.95
7.5 years	\$ 18.40
8+ years	\$ 18.94
D Probationary	\$ 15.72
0-3 years	\$ 16.50
3.5 years	\$ 16.91
4-7 years	\$ 17.33
7.5 years	\$ 17.77
8+ years	\$ 18.29

- M. Food Service Professional Development/Wages:
  - 1. Food Service Department will pay for School Nutrition Association (SNA) school district membership
  - 2. Employee must take Introduction to School Food Service (SNAM class). Employer will pay the registration for the class.

Employees must take SNA and pay the registration for:

- 10 hours of Sanitation & Safety and
- 10 hours of Nutrition I
- 3. Employee must pay dues for certification and complete a minimum of 6 hours of CEU'S each year in compliance with SNA Certification Guidelines.
- 4. Employees becoming certified and maintaining certification will receive a \$.25 per hour increase. This increase will be retro to the employee taking Introduction to School Food Service. Upon successful completion of Introduction to School Food Service, successful completion of the 10-hour Sanitation & Safety Class with successful passing of the ServSafe exam or Prometrics exam and successful passing of Nutrition I or Healthy Edge class, the employee must submit proof of certification to get the raise. If an employee does not maintain certification, the rate of pay for the employee will return to his/her original rate of pay retro to the date the certification expired. The employee will have six months to complete certification from the last day of the Introduction of School Food Service class.
- 5. Employees will not be paid for the time spent in class.
- 6. The employee will be responsible for finding the classes needed at <a href="www.michigansna.org">www.michigansna.org</a> or requesting the Director to schedule a class.

#### ARTICLE 21: RETIREMENT

- A. Retirement shall be interpreted to mean leaving the employ of the Okemos Public Schools and becoming an annuitant of the Michigan Public School Employee Retirement Fund, Social Security, or both.
  - 1. Upon retirement, the Board agrees to pay bargaining unit members one hundred dollars (\$100.00) for each year of service to the Okemos Public Schools provided that the bargaining unit member has been employed by the district for ten (10) or more years. Bargaining unit members employed by Okemos Public Schools for twenty-one (21) years or more shall be paid \$150 per every year of service to the district.
  - 2. Upon retirement, bargaining unit members who retire with at least ten (10) years of service with the Okemos Public Schools and provide at least two (2) months notice in any year, shall be entitled to one-half (1/2) of their daily rate of pay for any accumulated unused sick leave up to a maximum of four thousand dollars (\$4,000.00).
- B. In lieu of the benefit set forth in Section A, a bargaining unit member with ten (10) or more years of service with the Okemos Public Schools who severs employment prior to retirement shall receive twenty dollars (\$20.00) a day for each accumulated sick leave day up to a maximum of two thousand dollars (\$2,000.00). (Longevity shall be prorated by month for retirement payout purposes. Months will be calculated based on work through the 15th of the last month worked.)

# ARTICLE 22: DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2022. The language shall continue in effect until the thirtieth (30th) day of June 2026. Salary and insurance benefits will be renegotiated for the 2023-2024, 2024-2025 and 2025-2026 school years. This Agreement shall not be extended orally, and it is understood that it shall expire on the date indicated.

#### Okemos Educational Support Personnel Association, MEA/NEA Okemos Custodial & Food Service Personnel

President	Date	
Secretary/Treasurer	Date	
		Okemos Board of Education
President	Date	

#### **APPENDIX A**:

# **CLASSIFICATIONS**

#### MAINTENANCE/CUSTODIAL

- A Mechanical Maintenance/Skilled Trades Lead Grounds
- B Lead Night Custodian HS & MS Grounds Day Maintenance/Pool Operator
- C Day Elementary Custodian \*Utility Person
- D Day Secondary Custodian Night Custodian Delivery Drivers

<sup>\*</sup> The bargaining unit member will be paid at the Class B rate when assigned to work grounds.

#### **APPENDIX A1**:

# **CLASSIFICATIONS**

# **Employees Hired after July 1, 2010**

#### MAINTENANCE/CUSTODIAL

- A Mechanical Maintenance/Skilled Trades Lead Grounds
- B Grounds
  Day Maintenance/Pool Operator
- B-1 Lead Custodians
- C Day Elementary Custodian Utility Person
- D Day Secondary Custodian Night Custodian Delivery Drivers

#### **FOOD SERVICE**

- AA Lead Cook
- BB Cooks
- CC Servers Helpers Cashiers

# **APPENDIX B**:

# **GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM**

Grie	evance #	Distribution of Form  1. Superintendent  2. Director  3. Association  4. Grievant(s)	<u>.</u>	
Buil	ding Classification	Name of Grievant		Date Filed
		STEP I		
A.	Date Cause of Grievance Occurred_			
B.	Statement of Grievance			
	1. Contract Violation(s)			
	2. Relief Sought			
		Signature	Date	
C.	Disposition by Director			
		Signature	/_Date	
D.	Position of Grievant and/or Associat	ion		
		Signature	/_ Date	

If additional space is needed, attach an additional sheet.

(Note: Continued)

# STEP II

Date Received by Superintenden	t or designee	
Disposition of Superintendent or	designee	
	Signature	/_ Date
Position of Grievant and/or Asso	ciation	
	Signature	/_ Date
	CTED HI	
D. ( D. c. 11) G. c. 14 (1)	STEP III	
Date Received by Superintenden	t or designee	
Disposition of Superintendent or	designee	
	Signature	Date /
Position of Grievant and/or Asso	ciation	
	Signature	/

# **APPENDIX C**:

# OPS CUSTODIAL/MAINTENANCE/FOOD SERVICE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

EMPLOYEE:	EVALUATION PERIOD:	to		
POSITION:	DATE OF EVALUATION:			
WORK SITE:	EVALUATOR:			
P	ERFORMANCE RATING KEY			
1 = Unsatisfactory 3 = Works at an Acceptable Level	<ul><li>2 = Needs Some Improvement</li><li>4 = Performance Frequently Above Average</li></ul>	Э		
A. JOB KNOWLEDGE AND SKILL PER	RFORMANCE CHECKLIST	2	3	4
<ol> <li>Demonstrates skills necessary for the posi</li> <li>Demonstrates ability to work effectively a</li> <li>Demonstrates ability to communicate (wri</li> <li>Maintains building security. Protects distr</li> <li>Able to assess complex information/situat understandable manner.</li> <li>Follows Federal/State/district/department/ policies and standards.</li> </ol>	and safely.  itten and oral) effectively with others.  ict assets, does not waste product.  ions and present it to others in an			
B. QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF WOL  1. Prioritizes time in order to produce an acc 2. Provides quality and accuracy in work.	1	2	3	4
COMMENTS:				
C. ATTITUDE TOWARD WORK/HUMA	AN RELATIONS PERFORMANCE CHECKLIST	2	3	4
<ol> <li>Positive when offering and receiving corre</li> <li>Keeps work area clean and organized.</li> <li>Demonstrates a positive work relationship</li> <li>Demonstrates flexibility with job assignm</li> <li>Demonstrates acceptance of unavoidable to</li> <li>Is punctual and attendance at work is regular.</li> <li>Accepts and follows direction from supers</li> <li>Provides consistency in prioritizing custon</li> <li>Maintains appropriate appearance and personnels.</li> </ol>	ective feedback.  It with all staff and the public. It ension and pressure. It is a staff and the public. It is a staff and th	_	·	
COMMENTS:				

# M & O PERFORMANCE EVALUATION, PAGE 2

D. INITIATIVE PERFORMANCE CHECKLIST	1	2	3	4
1. Demonstrates initiative on the job.				
2. Develops workable solutions to most problems on his/her own.				
3. Keeps supervisor informed of job progress.				
4. Seeks to improve methods and techniques.				
5. Places priority on accomplishing tasks.				
COMMENTS:			- -	
E. CARE OF EQUIPMENT/SAFETY PERFORMANCE CH				
1 11 11 11 11 11	1	2	_	4
1. Handles equipment with care.				
2. Takes necessary safety precautions when handling materials.				
3. Uses equipment the way it is intended to be used.				
4. Sets a good example by practicing safe work habits.				
5. Looks for areas/items that require attention and responds by eit	ther correcting the $\Box$		]	
situation or providing written notice to supervisor.  6. Is aware of and utilizes "Right to Know" materials.				
COMMENTS:			- -	
SUPERVISOR COMMENTS/SUGGESTIONS:			- - -	
EMPLOYEE COMMENTS:			- - -	
SUPERVISOR'S SIGNATURE:	DATE:		-	
EMPLOYEE'S SIGNATURE:	DATE:			

NOTE: Employee's signature does not necessarily constitute agreement with the contents of this evaluation. A bargaining unit member may submit additional comments to the written evaluation within 10 workdays of receipt.

#### **APPENDIX D**:

# PERSONAL BUSINESS LEAVE FORM

Except in cases of emergency, please submit this form at least one (1) week prior to the intended leave date. Personal business leave may not be used on the workday immediately preceding or following a holiday, vacation period or during parent/teacher conferences except as determined by the Superintendent or designee.

NAME		
DATE		
	(Month-D	ay-Year)
This is to	o notify the	Employer that I will be absent from work for personal business reasons on
(Month-	Day-Year)	
		Bargaining Unit Member's Signature
*****	******	********************
Date Re	ceived	
Immedia	nte Supervis	or
	or a oper vis	Signature
	-	ne Office of the Human Resources Office.  abuted as follows:
Copies:		Building Principal's Office or Supervisor
	Pink Yellow	Human Resources Office Payroll Department
	Gold	Bargaining Unit Member

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### Between the

# OKEMOS BOARD OF EDUCATION

#### And the

#### OKEMOS EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL ASSOCIATION/MEA/NEA

A bargaining unit member may be terminated for the following reasons and for other just causes.

	1.	Reporting to work in an intoxicated or impaired condition (due to consumption of alcohol or use of drugs);
2.		Consumption of alcohol or drugs while on work time;
3.		Abandonment of work responsibility;
4.		Performance constituting a hazard to oneself or others;
	5.	Upon conviction of any felony or circuit court misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, theft, conversion, embezzlement or intentional destruction of property of the Employer;
	6.	Falsifying any documents related to his/her compensation or that of another employee; including, but not limited to, the application for employment, time sheets and reasons for absences;
B.	eith with	argaining unit member who commits any of the offenses enumerated in section A may be suspended er with or without pay pending a complete investigation. However, no employee will be suspended nout pay without first being provided with an opportunity for a due process hearing (i.e., notice of rges, explanation of evidence and opportunity to tell his/her side of the story).
	Sho	ould a bargaining unit member be suspended without pay and subsequently the suspension is found

C. An evaluation will not refer to discipline that occurred more than one (1) year prior to the evaluation, unless there has been reoccurrence of the type of behavior or conduct for which the employee was disciplined.

FOR THE BOARD OF EDUCATION	DATE	
FOR THE ASSOCIATION	DATE	

# Letter of Agreement 8/28/2022

Each Custodial/Maintenance employee shall receive 5 sets of uniforms provided by the District. Annually, each custodial/maintenance employee shall receive 1 pair of footwear not to exceed \$150. They will also receive 1 piece of outerwear (Coveralls, Coat, etc...) not to exceed \$150.

If employment is terminated, the employee must return uniform items to Okemos Public Schools before receiving their final paychecks. Damaged uniforms may be turned back into the district for replacement at any time. If an employee contributes to the purchase of footwear or outerwear and has exhausted the clothing's useful life, it does not have to be returned. This LOA sunsets on June 30, 2026.

Uniforms, footwear and outerwear to be from district approved vendors.

Summer: Older uniforms are allowed to be worn as long as they don't have Chiefs/Chieftain logos and don't have holes or rips in them.

Stephen J. Keskes, Assistant Superintendent

Of Human Resources

Carl Fries, Union President

# **INDEX**

Agreement	
Association Rights	
Bereavement Leave	
Breaks	
Cash in Lieu	
Classification	32-33
COBRA	
Compensation	
Continuity of Operations	.4
Definition of Employees	
Dental Insurance	24
Discipline	
Duration of Agreement	31
Emergency Closing	10
Evaluation Form	36
Evaluation	
Family Medical Leave Act	20
Grievance Procedure	6
Grievance Report Form	34
Health Insurance	23
Holidays	21
Hospitalization and Other Insurance Provisions	
Jury Duty	
LayoffLayoff	
Leaves of Absence	
Life Insurance	
Long Term Disability Insurance	
Longevity	
Management Rights	
Maternity Leave	
Medical Examinations.	
Meetings	
Military Leave	
Negotiation Procedures	
Overtime	
Overtime Rate	
Paid Leaves	
Payroll Deductions	
Personal Business Leave Form	
Personal Business Leave	
Personal Illness Leave	
Purpose and Intent	
Recall	
Recognition	
Retirement	
Salary Schedule Custodial/Maintenance	
Salary Schedule Food Service.	
Seniority	
Sick Leave	
Smock/Shirt Allowance	
Termination Reasons – Letter of Understanding	
Tiered Salary Schedule	
Tools	
Uniform Allowance	
· · · · · ·	_

Vacancies, Assignments and Transfers	. 12
Vacation	
Vision Insurance	
Worker's Compensation	
Vorking Hours and Conditions	